

ABSTRACT

The evaluation module TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM is used to evaluate the performance of TI's AFE79xx family of integrated RF sampling transceivers with TI's TRF1208 differential amplifier. The AFE79xx devices support up to 4 transmit, 4 receive, and 2 feedback channels (4T4R2F) and integrates phase-locked loop (PLL) and voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO) for generating data-converter clocks. The AFE79xx device integrates 8 JESD204B-and JESD204C-compatible serializer or deserializer (SerDes) transceivers capable of running up to 29.5 Gbps to transmit and receive digital data through the onboard FPGA mezzanine card (FMC) connector.

TRF1208 device is a fully differential amplifier that either drives the ADC of receive paths (in S2D configuration) or are driven by the DAC of the transmit path (in D2S configuration). The EVM includes the LMK04828 clock generator to provide reference clocks and SYSREF to the analog front end (AFE) and capture card (field-programmable gate array, FPGA). The evaluation module (EVM) works off a single 5.5-V input and includes complete power management circuitry. External clocking options include support for feeding the reference clock (for the on-chip PLL). The design interfaces with the TI pattern and capture card solution (TSW14J56 and TSW14J57), as well as many FPGA development kits.

Table of Contents

1 EVM Overview	2
1.1 Hardware	3
1.2 Required Software	3
1.3 Signal Chain of the EVM Board	5
2 Hardware Setup (TSW14J56 Used as an Example)	6
2.1 Power Supply Setup	6
2.2 TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM and TSW14J56 EVM Connections	6
2.3 RF Test Equipment Setup	6
3 Latte Overview	7
3.1 Latte User Interface	7
3.2 Useful Latte Short-Cuts	8
4 TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Automatic Configuration	8
4.1 Steps to Start Automatic Configuration.	9
4.2 TXDAC Evaluation	14
4.3 RXADC and FBADC Evaluation	14
5 Status Check and Troubleshooting Guidelines	. 15
5.1 TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Status Indicators	15
5.2 TSW14J56 EVM	15
6 TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Manual Configuration	15
6.1 TSW14J5x DAC Pattern Setup	. 15
6.2 Connect Latte to Board	16
6.3 Compile Libraries	16
6.4 Program TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM	16
6.5 Modify Configuration	. 16
7 Setup the TSW14J5x With the HSDC Pro	. 17
7.1 DAC Pattern Setup and Send	. 17
7.2 DAC Synchronization Check	18
7.3 ADC Data Capture	. 19
7.4 ADC Synchronization Check	19
8 Revision History	. 19



Trademarks

LabVIEW[™] is a trademark of National Instruments Corporation. Microsoft[®] and Windows[®] are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation. All trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

1 EVM Overview

The TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM includes a clocking and power solution, and runs off a single 5.5-V supply. As Figure 1-1 shows, the RF inputs and outputs using SMA connectors are on the top side of the EVM. A reference clock (for example, 10 MHz) to lock the onboard voltage-controlled crystal oscillator (VCXO) with the LMK04828, PLL-1 can be provided to the connector named LMK CLKIN (SMA J15).¹

SMA J13 (REF_CLK_HIGH) or SMA J14 (REF_CLK_LOW) can be used to feed an external reference clock to lock the PLLs in the AFE79xx. The USB connector and the 5.5-V connector are on the right side of the board.



Figure 1-1. TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Top View

Figure 1-2 shows the bottom view of the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM.



Figure 1-2. TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Bottom View

¹ Typically, lab equipment has a 10-MHz oscillator output to synchronize multiple lab systems. The onboard LMK04828 can accept the 10 MHz from external lab equipment to ensure synchronization and coherency of the data capture and generation to the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM.



The capture card that is used with the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM is typically the TSW14J56 or TSW14J57. The TSW14J56 supports a SerDes speed of up to 12.5 Gbps and the TSW14J57 goes as high as 15 Gbps. The choice of the TSW14J56 or TSW14J57 EVM depends on the AFE79xx JESD204 configuration and the associated SerDes rate.

1.1 Hardware

Two bench power supplies are required to power the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM and TSW14J5x EVM. A PC to program the EVM and capture card is required. For more information, see Section 1.1.1. All lab equipment requirements (such as signal source, signal analyzer, and so forth) are left to the users' discretion.

Note

Typically, the bench power supply with a rating of 5.5 V is used to power the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM. The nominal EVM power supply voltage is 5 V. The additional 0.5-V overhead is added to compensate for the power cable loss as the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM and TSW14J56/TSW14J57 are configured to full operating mode to accommodate the voltage drop associated with power cable loss.

1.1.1 Recommended Test Environment

The recommended test environment for the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM are as follows:

- Power supply at 5.5 V, 4 A maximum for the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM
- Power supply at 5.5 V, 3 A maximum for the TSW14J56 EVM
- Power supply at 12 V, 3 A maximum for the TSW14J57 EVM (optional evaluation)
- A PC that supports USB 3.0 for fast file transfer from ADC capture and DAC pattern loading
- High-quality RF signal generator that supports RF frequency of interest for evaluation. The example set-up uses Keysight PSG series of signal generator.
- High-quality RF spectrum analyzer that supports RF frequency of interest for evaluation. The example set-up uses Rohde & Schwarz FSQ-26 series of spectrum analyzer.

1.1.2 Required Hardware

The required hardware for the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM are as follows:

- TSW14J56 EVM (optional: TSW14J57 EVM)
- TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM
- USB 3.0 cable
- USB 2.0 Mini-B cable
- Two power supply cables

1.2 Required Software

The software used to configure the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM is called *Latte*. The latest version of Latte is available for download from TI's MySecure website. The software can be request after signing into myTI at this link. The installer file is called *AFE79xx_EVM_GUI_v1p4p4p1*.

The HSDC Pro software controls the TSW14J5x, and can be downloaded from www.ti.com/tool/ dataconverterpro-sw. HSDC Pro version 5.0 or higher is required.

1.2.1 Software Installation Sequence

1. Install High-Speed Data Converter Pro software. Follow all the instructions within the installer execution process. Note the directory to which the High-Speed Data Converter Pro software is installed.

Note

The default HSDC PRO software directory is in:

C:\Program Files (x86)\Texas Instruments\High Speed Data Converter Pro

- 2. Install AFE79xxEVM_GUIv1p4p4p1.exe. Follow all the instructions within the installer execution process. As shown in Figure 1-3, the installer will install the following:
 - Latte 5.2.3
 - AFE79xx Latte Library v1.44



Note

Both the base Latte software and the AFE79xx Latte Library will be updated as needed throughout the product development process.

- National Instruments LabVIEW[™] Runtime Engine 2014
- Associated HSDC PRO INI Files required for TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM.

AFE79xx EVM GUI Setup		– 🗆 X			
Choose Components Choose which features of AFE79xx EVM GUI you want to install.					
Check the components you war install. Click Install to start the i	nt to install and uncheck the comp nstallation.	ponents you don't want to			
Select components to install:	 ✓ 1p4p4Lib ✓ lib_update ✓ FTDI drivers ✓ HSDCPRO ini files ✓ v5p2p3 Latte Installer ✓ Labview 2014 Runtime 	Description Position your mouse over a component to see its description,			
Space required: 364.1MB					
Nullsoft Install System v2.46 ——	< <u>B</u> ack	Install Cancel			

Figure 1-3. Latte Installer Options

3. Note that the Default Latte Software Directory is installed at C:\Users\"User ID"\Documents\Texas Instruments\Latte.

	Note	
Replace the "User ID" with the p	proper Windows login ID.	

1.2.2 Software Installation Checks

After installing Latte, the AFE79xx.ini files appear in the respective folders in the HSDC Pro directory. Verify these files were properly installed by inspecting the relevant directories. The .ini files to look for are AFE79xx_1x2FB_44210.ini, AFE79xx_2x2RX_24410.ini, and AFE79xx_2x2TX_44210.ini.

For the TSW14J56, see the directories that follow:

- C:\Program Files (x86)\Texas Instruments\High Speed Data Converter Pro\14J56revD Details\ADC files
- C:\Program Files (x86)\Texas Instruments\High Speed Data Converter Pro\14J56revD Details\DAC files

For the TSW14J57, see directories that follow:

- C:\Program Files (x86)\Texas Instruments\High Speed Data Converter Pro\14J57revE Details\ADC files
- C:\Program Files (x86)\Texas Instruments\High Speed Data Converter Pro\14J57revE Details\DAC files



1.3 Signal Chain of the EVM Board

Figure 1-4 shows the signal chain of the board.



Figure 1-4. AFE79 + TRF1208 EVM Block Diagram



2 Hardware Setup (TSW14J56 Used as an Example)

2.1 Power Supply Setup

The steps for setting up the power supply are as follows:

- 1. Connect 5.5-V power supply to the power jack (PWR_JACK) connector (J19) of the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM. The 5.5-V supply may be dropped to 5 V if power cable loss is not significant in the setup.
- 2. Check the D9 (PWR) LED. It should be lit up. The power supply should draw about 550 mA to 650 mA.
- 3. Connect a USB Type Mini-B Cable from the PC to the USB port (J20) of the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM.
- 4. Check the D10 (USB_PWR) LED. It should be lit up. The LED light may be weak depending on the USB cable length. If the LED is not lit up, then use a shorter USB cable. TI tested a three foot long USB cable in this setup.
- 5. The power supply sequencer on the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM has power status for each rail. If the power good (PGOOD) is in logic HI, then the corresponding power supply rail is powered correctly. The respective LED will light up. Check the following LEDs to see if they are lit.
 - D5 (1P8) LED
 - D6 (1P2) LED
 - D7 (0p9) LED
 - D8 (3p3_LMK) LED

2.2 TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM and TSW14J56 EVM Connections

The steps for connecting the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM and TSW14J56 EVM are as follows:

- 1. Connect FMC connector U40 of TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM to FMC connector J4 of TSW14J56 EVM.
- 2. With the power supply in powered down mode, connect 5.5-V, 3-A maximum power supply to J11 +5 V IN connector of the TSW14J56EVM.
- 3. Connect USB 3.0 cable from the PC to the J9 connector of the TSW14J56 EVM.
- 4. With the power supply in powered down mode, connect the 5.5-V, 4-A maximum power supply to J19 *CONN JACK PWR* connector of the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM.
- 5. Connect the USB 2.0 cable from the PC to the J20 connector of the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM.
- 6. Optionally, connect the 10-MHz lab equipment reference to J15 (LMK_CLK_IN) connector.

2.3 RF Test Equipment Setup

RF Test Setup requires RF signal generators, spectrum analyzer, attenuator pads, power combiners, cables, and so forth. Depending on the type of test, the appropriate setup can be used. Examples of the RF Test Setup are shown in TRF1208 EVM.



3 Latte Overview

1. Launch the Latte GUI from the desktop shortcut or from All Programs > Texas Instruments. Figure 3-1 shows how the Latte GUI appears.

🔀 Latte						-		×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>R</u> un <u>L</u> og <u>S</u> ession	<u>H</u> elp							
Scripts	8 1	<pre>#setupParams.skipFpga = 1</pre>	^ Ir	nstrumen	List			8
Files	2	<pre>mainWindow.clearSession()</pre>						
✓ AFE79xx	4							
× Automation	5							
AFE79xx TSW14156 Mode1 pv	6	'''***********************************			(3)			
AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode2.pv	7	mainWindow.runFile(r"C:\Users\a0xxxxx\Documents\Texas						
AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode3.pv		Instruments/Latte/projects/AFE79xx/bringup/setup.py")						
AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode4.pv	°	Instruments/Latte/projects/AFE79xx/bringup/devInit.pv")						
AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode6.pv	9							
hringun	10	'''***********************************	D	evice List				8
> bingup		HSDCPRO************************************						
	11	from mhsdeparam import confighsdepro						
	13	hsdcparam = confighsdcpro().hsdcparam			4			
	14							
-	15	hsdeparam.Boardsno="T805FDCh" hsdeparam_tw_Devicepare="AFF78ww_2w2TV_44210"	E	naine List				R
	17	hsdcparam.tx.Datarate=svsParams.Fdac/svsParams.ducFactorTx[0]*1e						
• • •		6						
	18	hsdcparam.rx.Devicename="AFE79xx_2x2RX_24410"			5			
	19	hsdcparam.rx.Datarate=sysParams.FadcRx/sysParams.ddcFactorRx[0]*			-			
	20	let hsdoparam fb Devicename="AFE79xx lx2FB 44210"						
	21	hsdcparam.fb.Datarate=svsParams.FadcFb/svsParams.ddcFactorFb[0]*	C	Custom GL	I List			5
		1e6						
	22							
	23				-			
	24	mainWindow runFile(r"C:\Users\a0vyyyyy\Documents\Tevas			6			
	20	Instruments/Latte/projects/AFE79xx/bringup/AFE79xx EVM Model.pv"						
)						
	26		~					
Log				5	Command Line	2		Ð
					Welcome t	o Aster:	ix Comm	nand
					Line!!			
					from glob	alDefs :	import	*
					>>>			
		•						
		8				6		
						U		
			4	ia Tr	XAS IN	STRU	MEN	rs
			1	 11 		SIRO		

Figure 3-1. Latte GUI Overview

3.1 Latte User Interface

Figure 3-1 shows how the Latte UI is split into 8 windows (labeled 1 to 8) with the functionality that follows:

• Window 1:

This window (also called *Scripts*) shows the list of python scripts available that generate the register commands to configure the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM. The script files shown are located in the ..\Documents\Texas Instruments\Latte\projects\AFE79xx\bring-up folder. Modify and create new scripts as necessary, which appear in this sub-window when Latte is restarted.

• Window 2:

This window (also called *Editor*) shows the code in the script currently selected and can be used to modify and save the code as necessary.

• Window 3 to 6:

These windows get updated as the scripts run to configure the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM, and are mostly informational.



• Window 7:

This window (also called *Command Line*) is used to enter and run individual commands. Examples of such commands include changing the TX, RX, FBRX DSA, NCOs, and so forth.

• Window 8:

This window (also called *Log*) displays messages during execution of scripts to display the current status. This window is also used for troubleshooting.

3.2 Useful Latte Short-Cuts

Run Script file: run a script file by first selecting the file in the Scripts window and then by pressing F5 (or selecting *Run* and then *Buffer* in the menu bar).

Run part of script: run part of a script file by selecting the lines in the Editor window and then by pressing F7 (or selecting *Run* and then *Run Selection* in the menu bar).

Stop Execution: stop the current execution by pressing F10 (or selecting Run and then Stop in the menu bar).

Clear Session: the current session can be cleared to reset the Latte UI to its initial state by pressing Ctrl-T (or selecting *Session* and then *Clear Session* in the menu bar). This process is equivalent to a restart and can be used to restart a session without closing the GUI.

4 TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Automatic Configuration

This section guides the user through the sequence of steps to automatically bring up the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM through the automation python routine. The example used in this section will be the default TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Mode 1. Table 4-1 lists the default Mode 1 configuration overview.

Mode	Default Programming
TX (transmitter)	4 TXDACs are enabled, DSA = 0, LMFSHd_2TX = 44210, 6 × interpolation, 491.52-MSPS data rate
RX (receiver)	4 RXADCs are enabled, DSA = 0, LMFSHd_2RX = 24410, 12 × decimation, 245.76-MSPS data rate
FBRX (feedback receiver)	2 FBADCs are enabled, DSA = 0, LMFSHd_1FB = 22210, 6 × decimation, 491.52-MSPS data rate
SerDes	8 lanes running at 9830.4 Mbps
Data Converter Clock Rates	F _{RXADC} = 2949.12 MSPS, F _{FBADC} = 2949.12 MSPS, F _{TXDAC} = 8847.36 MSPS
Status	RX AGC is disabled, RX, TX DSA step impairments is uncorrected, DAC in interleaved mode

Table 4-1. TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Mode 1 Configuration Overview

Table 4-2, Table 4-3, and Table 4-4 list the TSW14J5x INI files used to evaluate the RXADC, FBADC, and the TXDAC portion of the AFE79xx. The tables also list the associated channel mapping with respect to the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM.

	11 0 (/
ADC Channel Number in HSDC PRO ADC Panel ⁽¹⁾	TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Connector	Associated AFE79xx Input
1,2	J3, RXA_IN	1RX
3,4	J1, RXB_IN	2RX
5,6	J4, RXC_IN	3RX
7,8	J2, RXD_IN	4RX

Table 4-2. RXADC TW14J5x INI Mapping (AFE79xx_2x2RX_24410)

(1) For complex quadrature output (I/Q) of the RXADC, the odd number is the real channel, while the even number is the imaginary channel.

Table 4-3. FBADC TW14J5x INI Mapping (AFE79xx_1x2FB_44210)

ADC Channel Number in HSDC PRO ADC Panel ⁽¹⁾	TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Connector	Associated AFE79xx Input
1,2	J6, FB1_IN	1FB
3,4	J5 and J11, FB2_IN	2FB

(1) For complex quadrature output (I/Q) of the FBADC, the odd number is the real channel, while the even number is the imaginary channel.

10000 + 1110000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 0000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 00000 + 000000

DAC Channel Number in HSDC PRO DAC Panel ⁽¹⁾	AFE79xx EVM Connector	Associated AFE79xx Input
1,2	J10, TXA_OUT	1TX
3,4	J7, TXB_OUT	2TX
5,6	J9, TXC_OUT	3TX
7,8	J8, TXD_OUT	4TX

(1) For complex quadrature output (I/Q) of the TXDAC, the odd number is the real channel, while the even number is the imaginary channel.

4.1 Steps to Start Automatic Configuration

1. Within the Microsoft[®] Windows[®] PC, start the HSDC PRO software by going to Start > Texas Instruments > High Speed Data Converter Pro. As shown in Figure 4-1, ensure that the High-Speed Data Converter Pro started properly. Take note of the *Serial Numbers* of the TSW14J56 EVM after the device is connected.



Figure 4-1. Connecting to TSW14J56 From HSDC PRO



2. Press the OK button to proceed the connection of the TSW14J56 EVM to the PC.

Select The Serial number	of the Device
_	Serial Numbers ^
18	319IAww-TSW14J56revD
	Ψ
	▼ Select/Enter IP Address - Port Number
Connect to KCU105	Select/Enter IP Address - Port Number

Figure 4-2. HSDC Pro Connect to Board

- 3. Within the Microsoft Windows PC, start the Latte software by going to Start > Texas Instruments > Latte. Ensure that the Latte software had started properly.
- 4. On the left hand side of the Latte, within the Scripts window, expand AFE79xx > Automation > AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode1.py. Figure 4-3 shows the python script.

Latte			- 0 1
Eile Edit View Bun Log Session He	p		
Scripts 🖉	1 statusDarans shinDres = 1		Instrument List
Jupa L	1 saturindex classication ()		and differences to the second s
Files	a maximalinon - careta de se a dir (7		
> AFE7fixx	4		
> AEE77w	5		
A AFETA	6 ···········INITIALIZATION····································		
> AFE/800	7 mainWindow.runFile(r"C:\Users\a0xxxxxx\Documents\Texas Instruments\Latte\projects\AFE75xx\bringup\setup.py")		
✓ AFE79xx	8 mainWindow.runFile(r"C:\Users\a0xxxxxx\Documents\Texas Instruments\Latte\projects\AFE75xx\bringup\devInit.py")		
 Automation 	9		
AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode1.py	10 CONFIGURE HSDCPROSSESSION		
AFE79xx TSW14I56 Mode2.pv	11 from mhsdeparam import confighsdepro		
devloit ov	12		
> heimann	13 hsdcparam = confighsdcpro().hsdcparam		
> bringup	14		
POULIFORK	lb hsdcparam. Boardsno="1805FDLh"		
	to nsdcparam.tx.Devicename="Art/Sxx_2x21x_44210"		
	<pre>/ nscparam.tx.latarate=systemas.rdac/systemas.ducractorix[0]*lee</pre>		Device List d
	on hsdcparam.rx.levicehame-"Arb/yxx_2/zzk24910"		
	a hadoparam.rx.latarate=systrams.radox/systrams.dddfactorxx[u]*let		
	on hadopiran.co.uev.coname= kci/ski_ikari_v4210		
	in hotparam. LD. Dacarace-systemas.redctr/ systemas.docraccorro(c) - 100		
	······································		
	The single of the second		
	and maintained a real real of the real of		
	T FNDaths'('\\Dronyam Files (v86)\\Tavas Instviments\\Hinh Snaed Data Converter Dro\\14.756revD Data(15\\Firmuara\\TSN14.756DFUD RD1M 1DC D1C DDD 128K NCUD FIDMS1DF vhf'		
	HEDC Pro Connect Board (bedenaram Boardeno 30000)		Engine List é
	HSDC Pro Download Firmware (FMPath 1 20000)		
	AFE_INK_INESSURFEET(1)		
	AFE LMK. ImkSysrefen(0)		
	2 Configure RX-ADC		
	AFE TOP overrideTdd(15,3,15)		
	4 badenaram.rx. Datarate=sysParams.FadeRx/sysParams.ddcFactorRx[0]*]=6		
	confighsdepro().rx()		
	37 ###### Configure TX-DAC ####################################		
	10 hsdcparam.tx.Datarate=svsParams.Fdac/svsParams.ducFactorTx[0]*1e6		
	<pre>39 confighsdcpro().tx()</pre>		Custom GUI List
	1 ###### Configure FB-ADC ####################################		
	<pre>#AFE.TOP.overrideTdd(0,3,15)</pre>		
	(3) #hsdcparam.fb.Datarate=sysParams.FadcFb/sysParams.ddcFactorFb[0]*1e6		
	(4 #confighsdcpro().fb()		
	45		
	46		
	47 AFE.adcDacSync()		
	18 AFE.LMK.lmkSysrefEn(1)		
	AFE.LMK.lmkSysrefEn(0)		
100		Ø Command Line	,
		Welcome to Aster	rix Command Line!!
		from globalDefs	import *
		>>>	
1			
			TEXAS INSTRUMENTS
			•

Figure 4-3. AFE79xx Mode 1 Automatic Configuration Script

- 5. Three parameters within the AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode1.py must be changed per the directory being used by the High-Speed Data Converter Pro software and the Latte software.
- 6. As shown in Figure 4-4, change item #1 and #2 to reflect the location of the Latte install directory for the setup.py and devInit.py. Usually the area where *a0xxxxxx* must be replaced with the Windows user ID login.



Figure 4-4. Directory Parameter to be Changed in the Automation Script

7. As shown in Figure 4-4, change item #3 to reflect the location of the High-Speed Data Converter Pro directory for the TSW14J56 firmware.



8. As shown in Figure 4-5, enter the serial number of the TSW14J56 EVM per the highlighted location in .

🔛 Latte				-	ð X
Eile Edit View Bun Log Session Hel	lp				
Scripts 6	1 SectorDarans chinDora = 1			Instrument List	ć
Class.	2 mainWindow.clearSession()				
riles					
> AFE70xx					
> AFE//XX	INITIALIZATION************************************				
> AFE/8xx	7 mainWindow.runFile(r"C:\Users\a0xxxxxx\Documents\Texas Instruments\Latte\projects\AFE79xx\bringup\setup.py")				
* AFE/900	8 mainWindow.runFile(r*C:\Users\a0xxxxxx\Documents\Texas Instruments\Latte\projects\AFE79xx\bringup\devInit.py")				
Automation AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode1.py	STUD AND CONTINUE INDERPRO				
AFE/9xx_TSW14J56_Mode2.py	12				
devinit.py	13 hsdeparam = confighsdepro().hsdeparam				
> bringup	14				
> Fouri Fourk	lb hadeparam.boardsno-"2005/U.h."				
	<pre>// hsdcparam.tx.Datarate=svpBarams.Fdc/svpBarams.ducFactorTx[0]*le6</pre>			Davice List	
	10 hsdcparam.rx.Devicename="AFE79xx_2x2RX_24410"			Device bot	
	19 hsdcparam.rx.Datarate=sysParams.FadcRx/sysParams.ddcFactorRx[0]*1e6				
	20 hsdcparam.fb.Devicename="AFE75xx_1x2FB_44210"				
	21 hsdcparam.fb.Datarate=sysParams.FadcFb/sysParams.ddcFactorFb[0]*le6				
	44 33				
	RUN BASICBRINGUP. PY				
	25 mainWindow.runFile(r*C:\Users\a0xxxxxx\Documents\Texas Instruments\Latte\projects\AFE79xx\bringup\AFE79xx_EVM_Model.py")				
	26				
	27 FWPath='C:\\Program Files (x86)\\Texas Instruments\\High Speed Data Converter Pro\\14J56revD Details\\Firmware\\TSW14J56REVD_BRAM_ADC_DAC_DDR_128K_XCVR_FIRMWARE.rbf'			Facility Link	
	20 HSUL_TTC.Connect_Board(InSecParam.Boardsho, 30000)			Engrie ust	6
	D AFE INF INFSVEREER(1)				
	A AFE LAK. ImkSysrefin ()				
	32 ##### Configure RX-ADC ####################################				
	33 AFE.TOP.overrideTdd(15,3,15)				
	34 hsdcparam.rx.Datarate=sysParams.FadcRx/sysParams.ddcFactorRx[0]*le6				
	35 confighsdepro().rx()				
	So and a second se				
	30 hsdcparam.tx.Datarate=sysParams.Fdac/sysParams.ducFactorIx[0]*le6				
	39 confighadepro().tx()			Custom GUI List	-
	40				
	41 dealer Configure FB-ADC				
	The PRESENCE OF BARANEANING, 9, 201 28 Shedmaram Sh Dararatageos Darame Fadrith/eusDarame ddrifartor Th(01+1af				
	4 #confidedepro().fb()				
	45				
	46				
	47 AFE: adcDacSync()				
	<pre>40 APE_LINK.IMMK95T0FLR(1)</pre>				
	The second s				
100		<i>.</i>	Command Line		,
			Welcome to Asteri	Lx Command Line!!	
			rios giobalbefs 1	impore .	
				lin m	
				TEXAS INST	RUMENTS

Figure 4-5. TSW14J56 EVM Serial Number Location

- 9. With the AFE79xx_TSW14J56_Mode1.py highlighted, press the F5 button to execute the script. The script will automate both High-Speed Data Converter Pro software and Latte software to automatically bring up the JESD204B link.
- 10. As shown in Figure 4-6 and Figure 4-7 expect the following two error messages after the script runs.

Log
Starting normal capture
Selecting ADC Device : AFE79xx_2x2RX_24410_B
Error Status = 7005
Selecting DAC Device : AFE79xx_2x2TX_44210
Using HSDC Ready function to check if the GUI is Ready
Setting DAC Data Rate = 491520000.0
Setting DAC Option = 0
Setting DAC Preamble = 0
Generating Data from DAC Tone Generation
Sending Data to DAC
Selecting DAC Device : AFE79xx_2x2TX_44210_B
Error Status = 7005
SPIA has got control of PLL pages
PLL Pages SPI control relinquished.
############Device DAC IFSD-RX 01 ink Status###################################

Figure 4-6. Latte Error 1



TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Automatic Configuration



Figure 4-7. Latte Error 2

- 11. The default TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM has the following RF frequency matching network:
 - a. RXA (TRF1208): 2.3 GHz
 - b. RXB (TRF1208): 5 GHz
 - c. RXC (TRF1208): 8 GHz
 - d. RXD: None
 - e. FB1 (TRF1208): 6 GHz
 - f. FB2 (Differential connectors): 6 GHz
 - g. TXA (TRF1208): 6 GHz
 - h. TXB (Balun): TBD GHz
 - i. TXC (Balun): 6 GHz
 - j. TXD (Balun): TBD GHz
- 12. The example script to change the NCO to match the default RF frequency matching network is the following:
 - AFE.updateTxNco(0,6000,0,0) AFE.updateTxNco(1,6000,0,0) AFE.updateTxNco(2,6000,0,0) AFE.updateTxNco(3,6000,0,0) AFE.updateRxNco(0,2300,0,0) AFE.updateRxNco(1,5000,0,0) AFE.updateRxNco(2,8000,0,0) AFE.updateFbNco(0,6000,0) AFE.updateFbNco(1,6000,0)
- 13. As shown in Figure 4-8, enter the commands in the command line prompt or execute AFE79xx_DC101_NCO_Setup.py (under Automation Folder of AFE79xx) in the Latte through F5 key.

Command Line	8
Welcome to Asterix Command Line!!	
from globalDefs import *	
>>> AFE.updateTxNco(0,2600,0,0)	
>>>	





4.2 TXDAC Evaluation

- 1. Connect the spectrum analyzer to J10 (TXA), J7 (TXB), J9 (TXC), or J8 (TXD) to monitor the TXDAC output.
- 2. The user may now change the DAC patterns or load custom DAC patterns through external files (see Section 7.1).

4.3 RXADC and FBADC Evaluation

- 1. Before starting the RXADC and FBADC performance capture, the test option of the HSDC PRO must be setup. Go to *Test Options* to enter the *Filter Parameters* menu. By default, there are 25 bins to remove on either side of fundamental and 25 bins near DC to remove. As shown in Figure 4-9, change the number of bins to remove on either side of fundamental to 100 bins.
 - a. With 245.76 MSPS of data rate for RXADC at 16384 sample points, this removes 1.5 MHz of bins on either side of the fundamental.
 - b. With 491.52 MSPS of data rate for FBADC at 16384 sample points, this removes 3.0 MHz of bins on either side of the fundamental.
 - c. The number of bins to be removed is a standard recommendation from TI to remove the effect of the ADC sampling clock in-band phase noise from affecting the broadband noise used to calculate the SNR through the FFT engine. The number of bins must be adjusted based on the end-application standard.

ψT	EXAS	MENTS			-		ADC				-		DA	С			
E79xx	_2x2RX	24410	es a	65535-	~		M Filter Pa	arameters		8	-	star law					Q +
	Capture		ő	0-			Filter Pa	rameters									3
Fest Se	election	1000		Ó	1000	2000	Number	of bins to remove on	either side of fundamental		11000	12000	13000	14000	15000	16000 17	/000
Sir	ngle Ton				Complex Fl	T	100				nel6)	1/1 A	rages			RBW 15000	Hz
	Value	Unit 🔻 🔺		10.0-		_	Number	of bins to remove on	either side of harmonics		-		_				Leve
e i	62.143	dBFs						0									Q -
R	81.351	dBFs		0.0-			Number	of bins to remove aft	er DC								2
AD	61.995	dBFs		10.0-				25									G
B	10.006	Bits		-10.0			Number	of Harmonics									
d.	-2.025	dBFs		-20.0-				5			-						
se	-3.016	Rad															
t Spur	-81.351	dBFs		-30.0-			Harmon	ic/Spur Power Calcula	tion Method(Windowed)								
	-95.084	dBFs		-40.0-			Integrat	e Bins	~								
	-94.822	dBFs		40.0													
	-93.231	dBFs		-50.0-			Frequence	y notch parameters	Number of hins to sem	all a	-						
31	-95.108	dBFs	0				Fre	equency	on either side	ove							
1	-95.845	dBFs	8	-60.0-													
4' 5	-92.89 -92.796	dBFs V		-70.0 -				122.865M	0	î	-						
est Pa	rameter	5	-	00.0													
Auto C	alculation	of		-80.0-				0	.0		3	5					
Coher	ent Freque	incies		-90.0-													
naiyata 4.0	204	samptesy				14		0	0		Ti . a	5 . A.	a.t.		er da	1.0.0	
10	384			100.0-	and a little	10000	1			•	Wedden	Propaga and	al collegester	TRIP		and the state of t	1.0
00.00	AE TON	100		110.0-			To delete	a particular frequency	, please right click on the		1						
2	45.70M	348		110.0	11.	on the state	frequency	and choose "Delete	lement".		1.10	lina. It	I al da	u. II	11 L	a ha a sa a sa	
de inp	ut larget	requency		120.0-	1.64.60	al (44-4).					1.1	TR NIPPE		and the	A. A. A.	Alt Hole Alt CAR	
15.00	0000000	UK			1.11		Frequence	y Notching Example:		_	1917	19 T T T		111	10.000	and the latest	1
			1	130.0-1			For	interleaved spur,	OK OK		1			0014			1000
				-122.00	M -1	JOM -	fs/2	- fin = 122.865M			40	M	DOM	SOM	10	12	22.00M
				<													>
_			-											_			_

Figure 4-9. HSDC PRO ADC Performance FFT Binning Configuration

2. Connect the RF signal generator output to J3 (RXA_IN), J1 (RXB_IN), and J4 (RXC_IN) to capture the RF input to the ADC. On the High-Speed Data Converter Pro, press the *Capture* button to capture the ADC data.

- Feed in a tone of 10 MHz offset from the channel frequency. For example, feed 2310 MHz to RXA_IN, 5010 MHz to RXB_IN, and 6010 MHz to FB1_IN. Set the signal level to get about -4 dBFS at the ADC output. Since the gain is different for various channels, the signal generator's output levels will be different.
 - a. RXA_IN is Channel 1 and 2 in FFT Channel Selection
 - b. RXB_IN is Channel 3 and 4 in FFT Channel Selection
 - c. FB1_IN is Channel 1 and 2 in FFT under FB mode Channel Selection
- 4. Similarly, feed 8010 MHz to RXC_IN and 6010 MHz to FB2_IN. Set the signal level to get about -4 dBFS at ADC output.
 - a. RXC_IN is Channel 5 and 6 in FFT Channel Selection
 - b. FB2_IN is Channel 3 and 4 in FFT under FB mode Channel Selection
- 5. For Feedback ADC, execute the following commands or execute AFE79xx_FB_Capture.py through the F5 key.

5 Status Check and Troubleshooting Guidelines

This section provides a general guideline on the status indicators of the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM and also the respective troubleshooting guidelines.

5.1 TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Status Indicators

The green LED D3 should be lit at this point. D3 indicates that PLL loop 2 of the TRF1208 is locked. Optionally, the LED D4 indicates that PLL loop 1 of the TRF1208 is locked. If there are external equipment providing 10-MHz reference to the TRF1208 for lab equipment synchronization, then this LED D4 must be lit. The EVM is still functional without PLL loop 1 running, but PLL loop 2 is necessary for a successful bring-up.

- If PLL loop 1 is not running, then check the 10-MHz reference. This is necessary to achieve signal coherency with the signal generators and spectrum analyzer.
- If PLL loop 2 is not locked, then contact TI applications for additional support.

5.2 TSW14J56 EVM

D1 and D3 should not be lit for TSW14J56EVM. D2 and D4 should be flashing. These are necessary requirements for the JESD204B transceiver mode to work. D2 flashing indicates the TXDAC JESD204B link has been established, while D4 flashing indicates the RXADC or FBADC JESD204B link has been established.

TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM – data transmission on the DAC and data capture on the ADC should be enabled at this point. The RXNCO, FBNCO, and TXNCO can now be adjusted.

RXDSA, FBDSA, and TXDSA can be adjusted.

##RXDSA	Adjustment						
setting	in dB	AFE.DSA.setRxDsa(chNo,dsaSetting)	##chNo:	ranges	0-3.	dsaSetting:	DSA
Secting		##FBDSA Adjustment					
		AFE.DSA.setFbDsa(chNo,dsaSetting)	##chNo:	ranges	0-1.	dsaSetting:	DSA
setting	in dB						
		##TXDSA Adjustment					
		AFE.DSA.setTxDsa(chNo,dsaSetting)	##chNo:	ranges	0-3.	dsaSetting:	DSA
setting	in dB						

6 TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM Manual Configuration

This section guides the user through the sequence of steps to manually bring up the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM. The automatic setup process is broken down in this section to allow the user to understand the process and make modifications accordingly.

6.1 TSW14J5x DAC Pattern Setup

Configure the HSDC Pro GUI to send a DAC pattern from the TSW14J5x board. If needed, see Section 7.1 and Section 7.2.



Note

Send a digital-to-analog converter (DAC) pattern to the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM before configuring the EVM to provide the proper training SERDES signal for the adaptation algorithm of the AFE79xx SerDes RX equalizer. The DAC pattern can be sent from the TSW14J5x board controlled through the HSDC Pro GUI.

6.2 Connect Latte to Board

This step establishes a connection between the PC running Latte and the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM.

- 1. In the scripts window, select *setup.py* and press F5 to run the program.
- 2. Check the Log window to ensure there are no errors where the following line should be displayed four times: *Kintex RegProgrammer – USB Instrument created.*
- Missing or obsolete drivers for the FT4232H chip in the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM is a common error source. Use the device manager to verify a connection between the PC and the EVM by checking the USB instantiations.
- 4. Update the PC with the appropriate driver, if necessary.

6.3 Compile Libraries

In this step, the library of scripts packaged with the Latte UI is compiled and takes approximately half a minute to run.

- 1. In the scripts window, select *devInit.py*.
- 2. Press F5 to run the program.
- 3. Check the Log window for status and errors.

6.4 Program TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM

In this step, the TRF1208 and AFE79xx on the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM is programmed.

- 1. Click on the script named *AFE79xx_EVM_Mode1.py* and press F5. No errors are expected, but warnings regarding SPI control, relinquish, and reset property can be ignored. This step takes a few minutes.
- 2. Check the Log window to monitor any errors. This step completes the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM configuration. Current consumption into the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM is approximately 3 A.
- An LOS error indicates that the SerDes RX is electrically idle, in which case, the TX output will not be normal. This error can be resolved by resending the data (the DAC pattern) and reconfiguring the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM (that is, run *basicbring-up.py* again).
- 4. GPIO warnings or sysref errors usually indicate supply voltage or current limitations. Verify the power supply to the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM and ensure a 5.5-V supply voltage and a 4-A current limit is used. Restart the Latte UI and rerun the scripts.

6.5 Modify Configuration

The examples in the previous sections show how to configure the AFE79xx with the default mode set in Latte scripts. The mode can be changed by modifying a set of parameters.

6.5.1 Data Rate and JESD Parameters

Data rates in the signal chain are often connected with the JESD mode (LMFS, SerDes rate), and a list of compatible modes are provided in the device data sheet. The following parameters in the *basicbring-up.py* script can be used to modify the configuration. Rerun the script after assigning new values to the following parameters.

```
## In below parameters, each element sets the particular LMFS-Hd for the particular channels.
# JESD and Serdes Parameters
sysParams.LMFSHdRx = ["24410","24410","24410"]
sysParams.LMFSHdFb = ["22210","22210"]
sysParams.LMFSHdTx = ["44210","44210","44210","44210"]
# Decimation and interpolation parameters for the data converter signal chains.
sysParams.ddcFactorRx = [12,12,12,12]
sysParams.ducFactorTx = [6,6]
```



6.5.2 Data Converter Clocks Settings

This parameter is used to configure the data converter clocks and clock distribution path.

```
#Configures the reference input frequency to the on-chip PLL of the AFE7920.
sysParams.FRef = 491.52
#Configures the RXADC converter sample rate.
sysParams.FadcRx = 2949.12
#Configures the FBADC converter sample rate.
sysParams.FadcFb = 2949.12
#Configures the TXDAC converter sample rate.
sysParams.Fdac = 2949.12*3
#Sets the clock source for the RXADC converters. The source is now from the on-chip PLL.
sysParams.externalClockRx = False
#Sets the clock source for the TXDAC converters. The source is now from the on-chip PLL.
sysParams.externalClockTx = False
```

7 Setup the TSW14J5x With the HSDC Pro

This chapter is intended to serve as a quick-start guide for users not familiar with the TSW14J5x and the HSDC Pro GUI. See the *High Speed Data Converter Pro GUI User's Guide* for more details.

7.1 DAC Pattern Setup and Send

This section lists the steps to create and send a DAC pattern from the TSW14J5x board.

1. Click on the HSDC Pro DAC tab. Figure 7-1 shows a brief description of the DAC tab.



Figure 7-1. HSDC Pro DAC Tab Overview

2. A pictorial representation to create and send a sinusoid is shown in Figure 7-2.



Figure 7-2. Setup a Sinusoid

- 3. How to create and send a sinusoid is outlined in the steps that follow:
 - a. Select AFE79xx_2x2TX_44210 in the device-specific initialization option. Click Yes if prompted to download the firmware (FW). The default option is to run the board in the transceiver mode of operation, which enables simultaneous operation of the TX and the RX and FBRX. The FW used in transceiver mode has the letters XCVR in its name.
 - b. Enter 491.52 M as the data rate and 0.9 for a scaling factor.
 - c. Create a sinusoid by entering the frequency in the *Tone Generator* section of the HSDC Pro window.
 - d. Press *Send* to transmit the DAC pattern to the TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM. Figure 7-3 shows the resulting message with the lane rate and reference clock expected in the FPGA. Click OK.



Figure 7-3. HSDC Pro Lane and Reference Clock Rate Pop-Up

Figure 7-4 shows an example setup with a 100-MHz sinusoid.



Figure 7-4. HSDC Pro CW

Alternately, a pattern file (for example, LTE) can be loaded and sent using the Load External Pattern File button.

The DAC setup is now complete.

7.2 DAC Synchronization Check

The steps for checking the DAC synchronization are as follows:

- 1. LED D2 on the TSW14J56 board blinks to indicate a successful JESD link on the DAC side.
- 2. If the LED is not blinking, then send the DAC pattern again.



7.3 ADC Data Capture

The steps to capture the ADC output are as follows:

1. Click on the HSDC Pro ADC tab. Figure 7-5 shows a brief description of the ADC tab.



Figure 7-5. HSDC Pro ADC Tab Overview

- 2. Select AFE79xx_2x2RX_24410 as the device.
- 3. Go to *Data Capture Options* in the menu bar and choose the *Capture* option. Set #samples (per channel) to 16384. Click the *OK* button.
- 4. Select 16384 in the Analysis window located in the lower left section of the GUI.
- 5. Enter 245.76 *M* for ADC output data rate.
- 6. Click the Capture button.

The capture size is set to a lower value (such as 16K) because of the limited BRAM memory available in the FPGA.

7.4 ADC Synchronization Check

After a successful capture on the ADC side, LED D4 on the TSW14J56 board blinks to indicate a successful JESD link on the ADC side. The FFT output should also be seen. A timeout on the ADC capture indicates a unsuccessful bring-up of the AFE79xx. Try again after rerunning the AFE79xx configuration.

8 Revision History

NOTE: Page numbers for previous revisions may differ from page numbers in the current version.

CI	hanges from Revision * (July 2022) to Revision A (January 2023)	Page
•	Changed the part number from: AFE7950-TRF1208-EVM to: TRF1208-AFE7950-EVM	2

IMPORTANT NOTICE AND DISCLAIMER

TI PROVIDES TECHNICAL AND RELIABILITY DATA (INCLUDING DATA SHEETS), DESIGN RESOURCES (INCLUDING REFERENCE DESIGNS), APPLICATION OR OTHER DESIGN ADVICE, WEB TOOLS, SAFETY INFORMATION, AND OTHER RESOURCES "AS IS" AND WITH ALL FAULTS, AND DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS AND IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS.

These resources are intended for skilled developers designing with TI products. You are solely responsible for (1) selecting the appropriate TI products for your application, (2) designing, validating and testing your application, and (3) ensuring your application meets applicable standards, and any other safety, security, regulatory or other requirements.

These resources are subject to change without notice. TI grants you permission to use these resources only for development of an application that uses the TI products described in the resource. Other reproduction and display of these resources is prohibited. No license is granted to any other TI intellectual property right or to any third party intellectual property right. TI disclaims responsibility for, and you will fully indemnify TI and its representatives against, any claims, damages, costs, losses, and liabilities arising out of your use of these resources.

TI's products are provided subject to TI's Terms of Sale or other applicable terms available either on ti.com or provided in conjunction with such TI products. TI's provision of these resources does not expand or otherwise alter TI's applicable warranties or warranty disclaimers for TI products.

TI objects to and rejects any additional or different terms you may have proposed.

Mailing Address: Texas Instruments, Post Office Box 655303, Dallas, Texas 75265 Copyright © 2023, Texas Instruments Incorporated